Page 1 of 16

FILED 01-13-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT III

#### Appeal No. 2022AP1764 Outagamie County Case No. 2021TR7591

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Respondent,

v.

#### **GLEN MICHAEL BRAUN,**

Defendant- Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT- APPELLANT**

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY THE HONORABLE MARK MCGINNIS PRESIDING

JOHN MILLER CARROLL LAW OFFICE S.C. Attorney for Defendant – Appellant

> John Miller Carroll State Bar. No. 1010478

226 S. State St. Appleton WI 54911 (920) 734-4878

##

# **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the Trial Court erroneously apply the law when determining the officer had reasonable suspicion?

*The Circuit Court answered:* No. *Defendant-Appellant submits:* Yes.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. Publication is requested. The issues present questions of significance.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction entered in the Outagamie County Circuit Court, the Honorable Mark McGinnis, presiding on October 13<sup>th</sup>, 2022 in Branch 1 of the Outagamie County Circuit Court. Before trial, Glen Braun, Defendant-Appellant, filed a motion challenging the traffic stop in this case (R.6). The motion was denied. The Trial Court denied the motion (R.18), and cited Wis. Stat. § 341.15(2) ruling that because Trooper LaCourt-Baker had difficulty reading the plate, allegedly due to chipping paint, it was reasonable for the trooper to suspect that the Defendant had violated § 341.15(2) (R.21). The Trial Court, using only the facts in LaCourt-Baker's report, as stipulated to by both parties, adjudicated the Defendant-Appellant guilty of Operating While Intoxicated (1st), contrary to Wis. Stats. §346.63(1)(a) (R.29). Sentence was stayed pending Appeal (R.36). The Defendant-Appellant now seeks review of the Trial Court's determination that the Trooper did have the requisite reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop.

#### STATEMENT OF THE RELEVANT FACTS

On August 22<sup>nd</sup>, 2021, the Defendant-Appellant was driving Southbound on U.S. Interstate Highway 41. Trooper LaCourt-Baker was conducting radar on Interstate Highway 41 just north of State Highway 441. At approximately 1:55AM the Trooper observed the Defendant's white pickup. The Defendant-Appellant, noticing the Trooper and in preparation of exiting the interstate, reduced his speed by approximately 15 miles per hour. The Trooper found this velocity reduction to be suspicious and began to follow the Defendant-Appellant's vehicle. The Trooper allegedly had difficulty reading the Defendant's license plate number and also observed that the current year registration sticker was placed sideways and slightly above the previous years' registration stickers (R.21:Pg. 6). After making these observations the Trooper concluded that he had the requisite authority to conduct a traffic stop and accordingly pulled over the Defendant's vehicle. After making initial contact and allegedly observing indicators of intoxication Trooper LaCourt-Baker conducted field sobriety tests. Ultimately the Defendant was arrested for OWI (1<sup>st</sup>) (R.1).

On November 8<sup>th</sup>, 2021 the Defendant-Appellant filed a motion challenging the stop and arguing that the Trooper did not have the authority to conduct a traffic stop. On August 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2022 the Defendant Appellant's motion was heard by the Trial Court. Only the Trooper and the Defendant-Appellant testified (R.21). The Trooper testified that, while the speed did make him suspicious, the misplaced registration stickers and the Defendant's damaged plate were the reasons for the stop (R.21:Pg. 6). The parties made their respective arguments.

The State cited Wis. Stat. § 341.15(2) and argued that the trooper had reasonable suspicion that the statute had been violated and thus had authority to conduct a traffic stop. The Court rejected the State's argument regarding § 341.15(1m)(a), ruling that, although Mr. Braun's decal's may have not been in the exact location prescribed by the department, because it was attached to the rear plate in a clearly visible location there was no enforceable traffic violation and thus the stop could not be predicated on the decal placement alone and the State effectively conceded this point (R.21:PG. 30,31,32).

The Court then turned to the primary issue in the case, whether the Defendant's plates were in violation of § 341.15(2). Defense counsel had argued that because Trooper LaCourt-Baker could read the plate and because they were otherwise properly displayed in a rigid, horizontal, and conspicuous manner that the statute was not violated (R.21:PG. 26, 27). The Court however, while admitting that it was a close call, did ultimately rule that LaCourt-Baker's suspicions that the Defendant-Appellant's plates were improperly displayed were reasonable. Defendant-Appellant now appeals this ruling by the trial Court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## i. TROOPER LACOURT\_BAKER DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE SUSPICION TO CONDUCT A STOP AND THE COURT MISAPPLIED THE LAW TO THE FACTS OF THE CASE

#### a. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Determining whether there was probable cause or reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop is a mixed question of law and fact, <u>State v. Post</u>, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

The appellate court first conducts a review of the trial courts historical finding of facts and defers to the trial court unless these findings are clearly erroneous. Then the court applies Constitutional principles to the facts and makes a determination, de novo, as to whether they provide a sufficient basis for probable cause or reasonable suspicion to conduct a stop, *State v. Anagnos (In re Anagnos)*, 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675, citing *Post*.

This case also requires this Court to analyze the statutory interpretation of the Trial Court. "Interpretation of statutory language is a matter of law we review de novo," <u>*Christensen v. Sullivan*</u>, 2009 WI 87, 320 Wis. 2d 76, 768 N.W.2d 798. If the language of a statute is unambiguous, we will ordinarily stop the inquiry and apply the statute in accordance with its plain meaning.

# b. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE TROOPER HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO CONDUCT A TRAFFIC STOP

In this case the essential facts were undisputed. The Trooper testified to the location and circumstances of the stop, why he initially began to follow the Defendant, and admitted honestly that a picture of the plate, taken the day after the stop by the Defendant, was an accurate representation of the license plate on the night in question (R.21:PG 17,18,19). The Defendant corroborated much of what the trooper said, testifying as to why he reduced his speed in the manner that Trooper LaCourt-Baker described, and candidly admitting that his decal sticker was positioned in the wrong spot, (R.21: Pg. 23, 24).

The Trial Court applied the Law to the facts and analyzed each reason given by the State for the stop in-turn. First the Court concluded that, based on the Trooper's testimony, that the Defendant was not improperly stopped for reducing his speed, rather this act merely made the Trooper suspicious (R.21:Pg. 27, 28).

The Court then addressed the placement of the decal sticker. The Court ruled that, while the Defendant may not have had the decal in the ideal place, the sticker was

Page 9 of 16

attached to the rear plate and was placed in conspicuous area, therefore there was no enforceable traffic violation and thus this fact alone would not support a traffic stop (R.21: Pg.29,30,31,32).

Finally, the Court ruled on the visibility of the license plate and whether or not this issue, combined with the Troopers other observations was enough to support a reasonable suspicion that the Defendant was in violation of an equipment violation regarding his license plate. Ultimately the Trial Court ruled that Trooper LaCourt-Baker's suspicions that the Defendants plates were not displayed in a manner consistent with Wis. Stat. § 341.15(2), which was the statutory violation that the Trooper referred to on recross (R.21:Pg. 18), were reasonable, (R.21: Pg. 35, 36). The Court however misinterprets the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 341.15(2) and erroneously validates the Trooper's justification for the stop in the process.

When a word is not defined by statute, it is normally construed in accordance with its ordinary or natural meaning, <u>Smith v. United States</u>, 508 U.S. 223, 228 (1993). If the language of a statute is unambiguous, the court will apply the statute in accordance with its plain meaning, <u>State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County</u>, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Furthermore, statutory interpretation should not produce absurd results, <u>Lake City Corporation v. City of Mequon</u>, 207 Wis. 2d 155, 558 N.W.2d 100 (Wis. 1997).

Wis. Stat. § 341.15(2) reads, verbatim:

Registration plates shall be attached firmly and rigidly in a horizontal position and conspicuous place. The plates shall at all times be maintained in a legible condition and shall be so displayed that they can be readily and distinctly seen and read. Any peace officer may require the operator of any vehicle on which plates are not properly displayed to display such plates as required by this section.

This creates three similar but distinct duties by a person driving a motor vehicle; that registration plates are: 1) attached to the vehicle rigidly and horizontally, 2) maintained so that they are legible, and 3) displayed so that they can be readily and distinctly seen and read. In this case, we will address only the Defendant-Appellant's rear plate, as that was the only plate in question there is no any evidence in the record suggesting that the front plate was defective.

The evidence showed and the court ruled that the plates were properly attached to the vehicle. This leaves two possible ways the Defendant could be in violation of this statute and the Trial Court, and the Trooper, erroneously conflates these two modes of commission in its reasonable suspicion analysis.

First the plates were obviously legible. Oxford Languages defines legible as: "(of handwriting or print) clear enough to read." The plate was clear enough to read, and the Trial Court made note of this when examining Trooper LaCourt-Baker (R.21:Pg. 17), and the Trooper himself even testified that he was, eventually, able to read the plate, and testified that page two of Exhibit 2 (R.15:Pg. 2) accurately depicted the plate on the night he stopped the Defendant-Appellant, *see Figure 1*.



Figure 1, Page 2 of Exhibit 2.

The plate was legible and was properly attached to the vehicle leaving one way possible way to violate § 341.15(2) and that would to display the plates in a manner which would prevent them from being readily and distinctly read.

The plates were displayed in a manner that would allow them to be readily and distinctly read. The plates were attached to the rear of the vehicle in a dedicated license plate holder which is designed as to put the plates in a position and location which is plainly viewable to any passerby. Furthermore, there are no modifications to the Defendant's vehicle which obstruct the view of the plate, and the area is illuminated by, no less than one, license plate lights.

Page 12 of 16

All of the facts above clearly support the conclusion that the Defendant-Appellant's license plate was not in violation of § 341.15(2), yet the Court found the Trooper's actions reasonable. The Court clearly erred in this regard. Reasonable suspicion is an objective standard and an officer's subjective beliefs should be given little weight in determining whether or not a suspicion was reasonable <u>State v. Howes</u>, 2017 WI 18, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 893 N.W.2d 812. To the Trooper's credit, he was generally, straightforward and honest in his testimony and it was likely not a falsity that the Trooper had trouble reading the plates, but the Trooper's subjective inability to read the plates, without any objective indicators that his lack of ability to read the plates was due to the plates, attachment, maintenance, or display, would simply not support reasonable suspicion to stop the Defendant, as numerous factors or conditions may prevent an officer from being able to read a plate which is otherwise properly attached, maintained, and displayed.

The Court in its conclusions made the following finding in reference to the plate: "you could see and read it. But based upon the condition of it, nothing to do with his tampering with it, it was a challenge to read at a certain distance." However, the Statute does not require a person to maintain or display plates so that they are legible at any distance. To interpret the Statute in such a manner would lead to absurd results; rendering it unconstitutionally vague and placing an impossible burden on the people. An Outagamie County Deputy in New London, WI, Deputy A, would not be able to read the license plate of a vehicle at the Outagamie County Courthouse. Could Deputy B then stop the vehicle in question due to Deputy A's inability to read the plate? This would clearly

Page 13 of 16

be an absurd result, and while the aforementioned example would be an extreme set of circumstances which would be clearly unreasonable, it illustrates the problem when upholding reasonable suspicion based on an officer's subjective experience instead of objective fact.

It should be noted that Trooper LaCourt-Baker, did testify to some objective facts about the plate, namely, that the white, reflective paint was peeling off, which in turn made the plate hard to read. This fact regarding the paint is verified by Page 2 of Exhibit 2. The Defendant-Appellant must also concede that he cannot know, exactly, what the Trooper observed on the night in question, however, the facts articulated by the Trooper simply do not support a finding of reasonable suspicion. The issue of the paint is one of maintenance. Although, the white paint was peeled away, the black paint on the actual number was, largely, intact, and the bare-metal, underneath the white paint, would also be reflective so the black numbers would still stand out against the background of the plate. Furthermore, the Trooper himself testified that he was able to read the plate when he got close enough (R.21:Pg. 6), and, again, the Defendant-Appellant had no statutory duty to maintain his plate in perfect order, the Defendant-Appellant's duty, based on the plain language of the statute, was simply to maintain the plates so that they were clear enough to read, and considering the Court's, the Trooper's, and the Defendant's ability to read the plate there is little doubt as to the plate's legibility.

Based on the Court's own finding that the plate was visible and legible and based on the Trooper's own testimony that the plate was otherwise correctly attached, it

Page 14 of 16

becomes painfully obvious that the Defendant-Appellant was not in violation of Wis. Stat. § 341.15(2). Given that, the objective facts do not support a conclusion that the Defendant-Appellant was violating the Statute, it was not reasonable for the Trooper to suspect that he was; and the Trial Court erred when determining that Trooper LaCourt-Baker had Reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop.

#### **CONCLUSION**

WHEREFORE, the Defendant-Appellant humbly asks this Court to find that the Trial Court erred in interpreting Wis. Stat. § 341.15(2) and misapplied this error in law to the facts of the case, thus violating the Defendant-Appellant's Fourth Amendment right to be free from any unreasonable seizure of his person. The Defendant-Appellant thus requests an order from this Court reversing the Trial Court's reasonable suspicion determination and remanding the case back to the trial Court for reconsideration, consistent with the finding of this Court.