FILED 03-07-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

2022AP1764

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

GLEN MICHAEL BRAUN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT 1 FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY

The Honorable Mark J. McGinnis, Presiding

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Charles M. Stertz ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY 320 S. WALNUT STREET APPLETON WI 54911 (920) 832-5024 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent Wisconsin Bar Number 1072938

QUESTION PRESENTED

Does a Trooper have reasonable suspicion that a violation of law occurred when the Trooper cannot read a license plate at a normal following distance, observes that the registration tag is in the wrong location, and observes a vehicle attempting to avoid police contact near bar time?

Trial Court answered Yes.

This Court should answer Yes.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication, as the arguments are fully developed in the parties' briefs, and the issues presented involves the application of well-established principles to the facts presented.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 22, 2021, at approximately 1:57 a.m., State Trooper LaCourt-Baker was conducting radar on Interstate 41 near County N, in Outagamie County, Wisconsin. (R.21, 4.) He observed a white F150 truck driving southbound at or near the speed limit of 70 miles per hour. (R.21, 4.) Once the F150 came within viewing distance of the squad car, the driver rapidly decelerated to approximately 45 miles per hour, 25 miles per hour below the posted speed limit. (R.21, 5.) Trooper LaCourt-Baker knew, based on his training and experience as a Wisconsin State Trooper, that "a dramatic reduction of speed, especially on the interstate with no other traffic or other factors that would lead to a vehicle slowing down, would be a reaction to police presence, suspecting criminal activity." (R.21, 5.)

The Trooper began to follow the vehicle and observed that the F150 exited interstate 41 onto U.S. Highway 441. Once on

U.S. Highway 441, the F150 did not accelerate past 45 miles per hour on the 65 mile per hour highway. (R.21, 14.)

While following the vehicle he was unable to read the license plate. (R.21, 6.) He also observed that the registration sticker was not located in the lower right-hand corner of the plate, covering stickers from prior years. (R.21, 6-7 and 16.) Trooper LaCourt-Baker knows the law required the sticker to be placed on the bottom corner. (R.21, 7 and 16-17.) The plate illegible until the Trooper remained stopped his approximately 45 feet behind the F150. (R.21, 6.) At the time he initiated the traffic stop, based on the fact he could not "readily and distinctly ... read" the plate, Trooper LaCourt-Baker believed the plate was in violation of Wis. Stat. § 314.15(2). (R.21, 18.) He also believed the plate was in violation of Wis. Stat. § 314.15(1m)(a) because the registration year sticker was not located in the bottom corner of the plate. (R.21, 16-17.)

Glen Michael Braun was issued citations for Operating While under the Influence of an Intoxicant and Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration, both as non-criminal first offense violations. (See R.1 and R.29.) Mr. Braun filed a motion to suppress evidence alleging the traffic stop was unconstitutional. The trial court held a motion hearing on

August 2, 2022. After testimony from Trooper LaCourt-Baker and Mr. Braun, the Court denied the motion to suppress. Following a guilty plea, Mr. Braun was found guilty in 2021TR7591 of Operating While Intoxicated 1st Offense, and the PAC citation in 2021TR9102 was "Dismissed on the Court's Own Motion." (R.28 and R.29.) This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether there is probable cause or reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop is a question of constitutional fact. State v. Popke, 2009 WI 37, ¶10, 23, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569. The Court of Appeals upholds the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous; however, the Court of Appeals independently applies those facts to constitutional principles. Id.

ARGUMENT

1. The Trooper observed enough specific, articulable facts for a reasonable officer to believe Glen Michael Braun violated Wis. Stat. § 341.15(2), Wis. Stat. § 341.15(1m), or a traffic law.

The Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Federal constitution and Art. I, § 11 of the State constitution guarantee Wisconsin citizens freedom from "unreasonable searches and seizures." See State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 18, 241

Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. Wisconsin courts consistently follow the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the search-and-seizure provision of the federal constitution in applying the same provision of the state constitution. See State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, ¶ 13, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516.

Whether a search or seizure has occurred, and if so, whether it passes constitutional muster are questions of law, subject to independent review. See id., ¶ 12. A trial court's underlying findings of evidentiary or historical fact must be upheld, however, unless they are clearly erroneous. See Williams, 241 Wis. 2d 631, ¶ 20.

In order to perform an investigatory traffic stop, the officer must have a reasonable suspicion that the person stopped is committing, committed, or is about to commit, a violation of the law. State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 11, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394. An "objectively reasonable mistake of law by a police officer can form the basis for reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop." State v. Houghton, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 52, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143. The officer's reasonable suspicion must be based on "specific articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts,

reasonably warrant the intrusion." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). What is "reasonable" is based on the totality of the circumstances. State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83-84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990). Individual facts that may be insufficient to give rise to a reasonable suspicion alone, may amount to a reasonable suspicion when taken together. State v. Waldner, 206 Wis.2d 51, 58, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

a. At the time of the stop, the trooper had a reasonable belief the plate's condition violated §341.15(2), stats.

When determining if the standard of reasonable suspicion was met, those facts known to the officer at the time of the stop must be taken together with any rational inferences, and considered under the totality of the circumstances. State v. Washington, 2005 WI App 123, ¶16, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305 (emphasis added.

Wisconsin Statute Section 341.15(2) requires that:

Registration plates shall be attached firmly and rigidly in a horizontal position and conspicuous place. The plates shall at all times be maintained in a legible condition and shall be so displayed that they can be readily and distinctly seen and read. Any peace officer may require the operator of any vehicle on which plates are not properly displayed to display such plates as required by this section.

The Trooper testified that he could not read the license plate until he was stopped approximately 45 feet behind the vehicle. Similarly, he testified that the photograph of the plate submitted by the defense at the motion hearing was taken from a similar distance (45 feet). He also testified that the photograph was taken in the daylight, whereas the traffic stop was at night.

Mr. Braun argues on appeal that the fact that the trooper was able to read the plate after he came within 45 feet of the vehicle, eliminates the reasonable suspicion that the plate was not "maintained in a legible condition and shall be so displayed that they can be readily and distinctly seen and read." Wis. Stat. §341.15(2).

The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals considered a similar argument regarding Wis. Stat. §341.15 in *U.S. v. Dexter.* In *Dexter*, the license plate was not located in the normal location outside the vehicle. Prior to making the stop, the Wisconsin State Trooper did not see the temporary registration certificate affixed to the inside of the tinted rear window of the van. *United States v. Dexter*, 165 F.3d 1120, 1122 (7th Cir. 1999).

^{&#}x27;United States v. Dexter, 165 F.3d 1120, 1122 (7th Cir. 1999). This case is offered as persuasive authority.

After the vehicle was stopped, the trooper approached the vehicle and saw the temporary license behind the tinted back window. Id.

Dexter argued that they were renting the van and the only place to put the license was in the back window. Dexter argued he could not have complied with the violation. *Id.* at 1125.

The Court of appeals disagreed, finding that a registration tag must be readable from a normal following distance. Id. An innocent reason for why it is unreadable from a normal following distance "cannot immunize the vehicle from investigatory stops to determine whether the unreadable temporary registration tag is valid." Id. And even if the statute was unconstitutional as applied, "suppression would not be justified because (the trooper) reasonably relied on the statute when he determined that there was a violation." Id.

Like the trooper in Dexter, Trooper LaCourt-Baker could not read the license plate from a "normal following distance." (R.21, 6 and 17.) He testified that he was only able to read the license plate after he stopped 45 feet behind Mr. Braun. (R.21, 6.) He also testified that the exhibit showing the license plate in the daylight was not an accurate depiction of

how it would look at night, from a normal following distance. (R.21, 11 and 17.)

As the 7th Circuit pointed out in Dexter, the question is "regardless of whether or not he was violating the law," did the trooper have probable cause to believe a violation had occurred. Dexter, 165 F.3d at 1124. Like the trooper in Dexter, at the time of night Trooper LaCourt-Baker was initiated the stop of Mr. Braun, he was unable to read the license plate. Regardless of whether the license plate is readable in the day light, or from 45 feet away, at the time of the stop Trooper LaCourt-Baker could not read the plate. As he could not read the plate at the time he initiated the stop, he had probable cause to believe a violation of Wis. Stat. § 341.15(2) occurred.

1. At the time of the stop, the Trooper had a reasonable belief that the location of the registration decal violated §341.15, stats.

The registration decal or tag "shall be placed on the rear registration plate of the vehicle in the manner directed by the department." Wis. Stat. §341.15(lm)(a). The Wisconsin Department of Transportation directs people to "Place the month sticker in the lower left corner of the plate; place

the year sticker in the lower right corner." See https://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/dmv/vehicles/title-plates/val-autos.aspx (last visited March 6, 2023.) It is undisputed that the registration year decal was not located in the lower right corner of the plate. Rather it was located on the side of the plate, above a prior year's sticker and rotated 90 degrees. (R.21, 7 and 16.)

It was objectively reasonable for Trooper LaCourt-Baker to believe that the improper location of the registration decals was a violation of the law. He was aware of the statute, DOT directions, and the registration violation. Even if this Court finds that the sticker was "close enough" to the correct location, "an objectively reasonable mistake of law by a police officer can form the basis for reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop." Houghton, 2015 WI 79, at ¶ 52.

The trial court judge and Mr. Braun both argue that the stop cannot be justified because Wis. Stat. §341.15(3) does not specifically list a penalty for violation of the placement of the registration stickers. While there is no penalty expressed in Wis. Stat. § 341.15(3) for a violation of §341.15(1m)(a),

that does not mean there is no penalty for the violation. Wisconsin Statute § 939.61 provides a penalty when no penalty is expressed. That penalty is a forfeiture not to exceed \$200.00. Wisconsin Statutes § 939.61(1) provides as follows:

939.61 Penalty when none expressed.

(1) If a person is convicted of an act or omission prohibited by statute and for which no penalty is expressed, the person shall be subject to a forfeiture not to exceed \$200....

In this case it is clear that Mr. Braun was operating a motor vehicle that did not comply with the registration statutes due to the act of improperly placing the registration stickers on the rear license plate in a manner not directed by the department. Although he was not issued a citation for the violation, he certainly could have been cited for the same. There is no penalty specifically listed in Wis. Stats. §341.15(3) for the violation of Wis. Stats. §341.15(1m)(a). Therefore, we turn to Wis. Stats. §939.61, which provides the penalty for the violation of Wis. Stats. §341.15(1m)(a). That penalty is a forfeiture not to exceed \$200.00.

If there was any mistake of law, it was an objectively reasonable one that could provide the basis for a finding of reasonable suspicion that a traffic law is being

violated. See Houghton, 2015 WI 79, at ¶ 52. The traffic stop should be upheld based on the violation of Wis. Stat. §341.15(1m)(a).

a. State did not abandon this argument

In his brief-in-chief, Mr. Braun argues that the State "effectively conceded this point" in argument. (App. Br. 6.) The State respectfully disagrees with this assertion.

First, "it is well-established law in Wisconsin that an appellate court may sustain a lower court's ruling 'on a theory or on reasoning not presented to the lower court." See Blum v. 1st Auto & Cas. Ins. Co., 2010 WI 78, ¶27 n.4, 326 Wis. 2d 729, 786 N.W.2d 78 (citation omitted). Therefore, even if this Court finds the prosecutor succumbed to the trial judge's pressure and abandoned the argument during the hearing, this Court can and should consider the State's arguments on appeal that the violation of Wis. Stat. §341.15(1m)(a) and §939.61 justified the stop.

Additionally, the State presented evidence this on violation and the prosecutor specifically argued that it was a violation of the law. The prosecutor argued the sticker

violation supported the stop and then pivoted their argument to concentrate on the violation of 341.15(2) only after it became clear the trial judge did not agree. In reading the transcript as a whole, it is clear the State did not concede the argument.

2. Under the totality of the circumstances, Trooper LaCourt-Baker observed "specific articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts," are sufficient to reasonably suspect Mr. Braun was committing a traffic violation.

As mentioned above, it is well-established law in Wisconsin that an appellate court may sustain a lower court's ruling 'on a theory or on reasoning not presented to the lower court.'" See Blum, 2010 WI 78, ¶27 n.4. While the prosecutor did not argue the totality of the circumstances give rise to a reasonable suspicion of a violation of a criminal or traffic law; this court can and should analyze the facts elicited at the motion hearing and conduct a Post evaluation.

Under *Post*, the officer does not need to identify a specific traffic violation to have a reasonable suspicion a driver is violating a traffic law. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. What *Post* does require is for the court to examine the totality of the circumstances. *Id*. ¶¶ 29-37. And officers "are not required to rule out the

possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop.... [I]f any reasonable inference of wrongful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn, the officers have the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry." State v. Anderson, 155 Wis.2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763, 766 (1990) (citation omitted).

In Post, the officer observed the vehicle travel within its lane of traffic from the centerline to the curb "a few times" at 9:30 p.m. The Post court found the swerving and time of night justified the stop. Post, 2007 WI 60 at ¶ 37.

In this case, the trooper observed the F150 near bar time at 1:57 a.m. (R.21, 4.) He observed the F150 dramatically reduce its speed from 70 miles per hour to 45 miles per hour after the F150 came close enough for the driver to see the squad car. (R.21, 5.) The trooper testified that most vehicles only reduce their speed by around 10 miles per hour upon seeing a squad. (R.21, 9.) After seeing the squad, the vehicle immediately exited that highway, did not accelerate to the speed limit on the next highway, and then exited that highway at the next available exit. (R.21, 9-14.) The trooper testified that,

based on his training and experience, the dramatic decrease in speed was indicative of criminal activity. (R.21, 5.)

While this case does not involve swerving within a traffic lane, the *Post* analysis is not restricted to weaving cases. The totality of the circumstances show a person who made attempts to avoid police contact as soon as they saw the marked squad car. They slowed down considerably more than most vehicles in that situation, they quickly exited the interstate, then quickly exited the highway after seeing the squad continued following them. Taken as a whole, it is reasonable to suspect a person who takes all of those dramatic steps to avoid police is, has, or is about to violate the law.

CONCLUSION

Trooper LaCourt-Baker testified to specific, articulable facts that establish reasonable suspicion Glen Braun was violating the law. As he had reasonable suspicion, and probable cause, that Mr. Braun was in violation of § 341.15, this Court must affirm the trial courts denial of the motion to suppress.

Case 2022AP001764 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-07-2023 Page 19 of 20

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Glen Michael Braun